

# House of Lords House of Commons

Joint Committee on Human Rights

# Facilitating Peaceful Protest

# **Tenth Report of Session 2010–11**

Report, together with formal minutes, oral and written evidence

Ordered by the House of Lords to be printed 22 March 2011

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed 22 March 2011

# **Joint Committee on Human Rights**

The Joint Committee on Human Rights is appointed by the House of Lords and the House of Commons to consider matters relating to human rights in the United Kingdom (but excluding consideration of individual cases); proposals for remedial orders, draft remedial orders and remedial orders.

The Joint Committee has a maximum of six Members appointed by each House, of whom the quorum for any formal proceedings is two from each House.

## **Current membership**

#### **HOUSE OF LORDS**

Lord Bowness (Conservative)
Baroness Campbell of Surbiton (Crossbench)
Lord Dubs (Labour)
Lord Lester of Herne Hill (Liberal Democrat)
Lord Morris of Handsworth (Labour)
Baroness Stowell of Beeston (Conservative)

#### HOUSE OF COMMONS

Dr Hywel Francis MP (Labour, *Aberavon*) (Chairman)
Dr Julian Huppert MP (Liberal Democrat, *Cambridge*)
Mrs Eleanor Laing MP (Conservative, *Epping Forest*)
Mr Dominic Raab MP (Conservative, *Esher and Walton*)
Mr Virendra Sharma MP (Labour, *Ealing Southall*)
Mr Richard Shepherd MP (Conservative, *Aldridge-Brownhills*)

#### **Powers**

The Committee has the power to require the submission of written evidence and documents, to examine witnesses, to meet at any time (except when Parliament is prorogued or dissolved), to adjourn from place to place, to appoint specialist advisers, and to make Reports to both Houses. The Lords Committee has power to agree with the Commons in the appointment of a Chairman.

## **Publications**

The Reports and evidence of the Joint Committee are published by The Stationery Office by Order of the two Houses. All publications of the Committee (including press notices) are on the internet at <a href="http://www.parliament.uk/jchr">http://www.parliament.uk/jchr</a>

## **Current Staff**

The current staff of the Committee is: Mike Hennessy (Commons Clerk), Rob Whiteway (Lords Clerk), Murray Hunt (Legal Adviser), Angela Patrick (Assistant Legal Adviser), Lisa Wrobel (Senior Committee Assistant), Michelle Owens (Committee Assistant), Claudia Rock (Committee Assistant), Greta Piacquadio (Committee Support Assistant), and Keith Pryke (Office Support Assistant).

## Contacts

All correspondence should be addressed to The Clerk of the Joint Committee on Human Rights, Committee Office, House of Commons London SW1A 0AA. The telephone number for general inquiries is: 020 7219 2797; the Committee's email address is jchr@parliament.uk

# **Contents**

Re	Report	
	Summary	3
1	Introduction	5
	Introduction	5
	Human rights, policing and protest	5
	The role of the police	5
	The role of the HMIC	6
	The role of protest organisers	6
	The TUC 'March for the Alternative'—Saturday 26 March	6
	Communications	7
	Stewards	7
	Containment or "kettling"	8
	Use of force	8
	Undercover officers	9
	Lessons learned	9
	Conclusions and recommendations	11
Fo	rmal Minutes	13
De	claration of Lords Interests	14
Wi	tnesses	15
Lis	t of written evidence	15
Wı	ritten Evidence	16
Lis	t of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament	43
Lis	t of Reports from the Committee during the last Session of Parliament	43

# Summary

In this Report we make available the evidence we have taken on the policing of recent protests and prepar ations for the imminent Trades Union Congress (TUC) March, 'the March for the Alternative', on 26 Marc h. The Committee to ok evidence from representatives of student bodies, the Metropolitan Police (on two occasions), Her Majesty's Inspectorate of the Constabul ary (HMIC) and the TUC at two meetings in December 2010 and March 2011.

In our Report we consider and make recommendations on the role of the police, the role of HMIC and the role of protest organisers in the context of how to ensure that the policing of protest respects human rights and in particular facilitates the right to peaceful protest.

# The TUC March for the Alternative, 26 March 2011

We welcome the high level of cooperation we saw between the Metropolitan Police and the TUC in planning for the demonstration of 26 March, as well as the planned involvement of independent h uman r ights a dvisers in the control r oom during the demonstration its elf. We hope this example of good practice will become general practice in the future.

#### Communications

We heard from our wintnesses that effective and proactive communication between the organisers of protests and the police was critical for the 'no surprises' approach to policing of protest. Good or ganisation between polic e and protestors should be established at the planning stage and carry through to the protest itself.

We welcome the Metrop olitan Police's communication with protestors through both social media and leaflets tailor ed for the demonstr ation in question. We recommen d that organisers of protests have arr angements in p lace to communic ate with p rotestors, including about changes to the route of a march. They should make appropriate use of social media in order to c ommunicate these messages effectively. We also welcome plans for the police to be in radio contact with stewards at the forthcoming march on 26 March.

#### Containment

We heard much evidence about the use of contai nment or "kettling" as a tactic during the policing of the student demonstrations in Nove mber and December la st year. We found that there was a lack of clarity about what level of violence must o ccur before containment or "kettling" is resorted to. In o ur Rep ort, we express concerns about the lack of opportunity f or t he peacef ul an d vu lnerable to leav e th e contai nment and the e lack of information provided about how to leave. Ther e remains considerable room for improving understanding of front lin e officers of the ACPO gu idelines on the use of the tactic and we look forward to hearing practical proposals for how to ensure the guidance is translated into action on the ground.

## Force

Some concerns were raised by HMIC about police training on the use of force and we were pleased to hear that the Metropolitan Police have changed their training on the use of force.

# 4 Facilitating Peaceful Protest

We were, however, surprised to find that no specific guidance setting out circumstances in which the use of the baton against the head might be justifiable and recommend that such detailed guidance about the use of batons be drawn up, and that in the meantime training reflects this concern.

#### Lessons learned

We agree with HMIC that the lessons to be learned from events must be extracted very quickly and assimilated by those on the ground. The system for doing this needs to be more nimble than the current system of policy reviews.

#### Introduction 1

# Introduction

- 1. The main purpose of this short Report is to make available the e vidence we have taken about the policing of recent prootests and preparations for the imminent TUC March. We took the evidence with a view to identifying the most important lessons to be learned from recent protests and to feed those lessons into preparations for protests to come.
- 2. On 14 December 2010 we took evi dence from Aaron Porter, President of the NUS, and Simon Hardy, Spokesperson for the National Campaig n against Fees and Cuts; and from DC Allison of the Met Police and Sue Sim, ACPO lead on Public Order and Safety. On 1 March 2011 we took further evidence from Nig el Stanley, Head of Communications, and Carl Roper, Head Steward for the 'March for the Alternative', the Trades Union Congress; Jo Kaye, Ass istant Inspector, Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC); and Lynne Owens, Assistant Commissioner, and Commander Bob Broadhurst, Head of Public Order, the Metropolitan Police Service. We thank these witnesses for their evidence. We also wrote to the Metropolita n Police with a number of detailed que stions following the first evidence session and received a very full and helpful response which is attached to this Report.1

# Human rights, policing and protest

3. Our particular interest is the extent to which the policing of protest in practice respects human rights. The policing of protest engages a number of human rights and freedoms. Most obvious are the rights to freedom of expression and peaceful assembly, which are both recognised as fundamental by the common law and protected by Articles 10 and 11 of the European Conventio n on Human Rights (E CHR). Tactics for polici ng protests als o engage a range of other rights protected by both the common law and the ECHR, including the right to life (Article 2 ECHR), the prohibition against inhuman or degrading treatment (Article 3 ECHR), the right to libe rty (Article 5 ECHR) and the right to respect for private life, which includes the right to physical autonomy (Article 8 ECHR).

# The role of the police

4. We heard evidence from the Metropolitan Police that it has in some respects changed its stance since the G20 protests so that it is now more facilitative of protest.<sup>2</sup> We welcome this renewed commitment to facilitating protest. We accept that policing public order is a very challenging task, and that in the current cli mate the police have to deal with v regulatory burdens with diminishing resources, and with the changing profile of protests detailed in the recent HMIC report, *Policing Public Order* published in February 2011. We increasing unpredicta bility of protests wh ich poses particular challenges for the police. We al so note that the police's seni or leaders welcome scrutiny,

WE2, p. 17.

See e.g. Q93 (Commander Bob Broadhurst).

accepting that it inev itably produces recommendations which they see as their leadership responsibility to translate into practical guidance for frontline officers on the ground.

# The role of the HMIC

5. The oral evidence we receive d from HMIC served to emphasi se the importance of that organisation's role. *Policing Public Order* is an important report, reviewing progress made against recommendations in two previous. HMIC reports (issued following the G2 0 protests of 2009) and setting out the key challenges for policing protests which have been brought into in creasing prominence by the protests of 2010. The report identifies a number of questions which it says require urgent consideration: containment, the capacity of the police to remove problematic groups from amongst peaceful protestors, the ability to filter the vulnerable away from containment zones or possible disorder, information gathering and communication. While recognising the progress made by the police against many of the recommendations from the earlier reports, the 2011 report is critical of the amount of time that is being taken to transfer changes of policy in to changes of actual practice and sees better and updated training as key to improving this.

# The role of protest organisers

6. We also heard evidence from organisers of demonstrations about their acceptance of the responsibilities that accompany the organisation of a demonstration and about their attempts to discharge those responsibilities. There is also a duty upon those organising protests to try and ensure so far as they can that the protest is peaceful, well-marshalled and well run. We to uch on some key i ssues for organisers, in relation to communications and stewards a little later in this Report.

# The TUC 'March for the Alternative'—Saturday 26 March

7. We welcome the high degree of co-operation between the Metropolitan Police and the TU Ci n pl anning for the demonstration on 26 Mar ch. We agree with the observations of witnesses that in many respects the planning for this event between the police and the organise rs provides a model of good practice. We hope that this will be reflected in a successful and peaceful demonstration in which all participants feel that they have exercised their democratic right to protest. We also hope that this example of good practice will be followed and generalised in the future, in cluding, so far as possible, in relation to smaller scale and more impromptu protests than the proposed TUC march. We do however note that, when we took eviden ce, neither side had raised with the other the possibility of the need to use containment or "ke ttling". This was an oversight that ought not be repeated with regard to the planning of future demonstrations. We also welcome the involvement of expert human rights and civil liberties NGOs such as Liberty in preparations for the TUC March and the plan to involve independent human rights observers and advisers, as well as representatives of the organisers, in the control room during the demonstration itself.<sup>3</sup>

# **Communications**

- 8. Effective and proactive commun ications between the organisers of a protest and police before major demonstrations is recognised to be one of the most important features of a 'no surprises' approach to policing protest. We heard ev idence that liaison between police and organisers prior to some of the stud ent demonstrations in November and December had not been a s good as it ought to have been. We also heard that communications from the p olice d uring the student demonstrations were not very effective in reaching the demonstrators, particularly once the containmen t/kettle had been imposed. The police recognised the importance of communication and acknowledged that this was a chall enge during the demonstrations in question.
- 9. We welcome the Metropolitan Police's development of its capacity to communicate directly with protestors by means of social media such as Twitter, and through the use of leaflets distributed to protestors and tailored for the demonstration in question.
- 10. The police were critical of the organisers of the student protests on 9 December for failing to communicate effectively with the demonstrators, including about the route of the march. They provided evidence of officers having atte mpted to communicate with stewards about the need to keep th e march moving, and of steward s being uncooperative and failing to communicate with the protestors. 4 There is an import ant responsibility on the organisers of protests to communicate with those who are protesting. The proper discharge of this responsibility is an important aspect of facilitating the right to peaceful protest.
- 11. We recommend that the organi sers of future demonstrations ensure that they have arrangements in pl ace to comm unicate with pr otestors during the demonstration, including about the route of the march or any changes to that route, and make the best use of social media to do so. We also welcome the plans for the police and the stewards at the forthcoming TUC March to be in radio contact during the demonstration, which will enable the police to relay communications to demonstrators through the stewards' chain of communication, and vice-versa. Good communications between police and protestors should be established at the planning stage and carry through to the demonstration itself.

# **Stewards**

12. In terms of protest organi sers responsibilities, the use of stewa rds, trained or experienced where possible, is important. We commend the TUC for its detailed plans for the use of stewards d uring the 26 Ma rch dem onstration and re cognise that this must involve significant cost for the organisation. Not every or ganisation can call upon a reservoir of trained or experienced stewards, or can train them prior to any protests. However, the importance of the clear provision and identification of sufficient stewards who understand how the protest is to be run cannot be overstated.

# Containment or "kettling"

13. At the first of our two e vidence sessions, we heard considerable concern expressed about the use of the tactic of containment or "kettling" at the student demonstrations in November and December last year. The complaints included the length of time for which people were detai ned within the containment or "kettle"; the large numbers of people affected and the apparently indiscriminate nature of the restrictions imposed; the lack of access to basic needs such as food, water, toilets and in some cases medication; the effect on particularly vulnerable individuals such as the young and the disabled; the lack of communication with the protestors about matters such as the reasons for the use of the tactic, the likely duration and the arrangements for leaving the area; the disregard of factors such a s the low tem peratures and the age of many of the protestors; and the lack of opportunity for peaceful protestors to cross the police cor don and leave the area. As a result, we heard that demonstrators were "terrified of kettling" which caused "significant anxiety."6

14. We also heard the Metropo litan Police's acco unt of the use of containment or "kettling" a t th ese d emonstrations. Assi stant Com missioner Ch ris Alli son o f the Metropolitan Police Service, who has responsibility for the policing of demonstrations in London, told us that containment was only used at the 24 November 2010 demonstration after police came under attack. He said that commanders took the vie w that allowing the demonstration to move on would have led to "widespread damage and disorder"; they ensured that it was necessary and proportionate in the first place and then implemented what they had learnt from the G20 p rotests. Toilets and water were provided, he told us, access through the lines was given to journalists, and the vulnerable were allowed out. The long duration of the kettle was explained by "fear of disorder".

15. We consider it the responsibility of demonstrators and organisers to recognise that failure to protest peacefully will require the police to take action, but there does appear to be a lack of clarity about the level or seriousness of the violence that must have occurred before containment or "kettling" can be resorted to. We are concerned about the apparent lack of opp ortunity for non-vi olent protestors to I eave the contained or "kettled" crowd, the adequa cy o farr angements to ensure that the particularly vulnerable such as di sabled people are iden tified and helped to le ave the containment, and the general lack of information available to the protestors about how and where to leave. We consider that there remains considerable room to improve the understanding of the ACPO Guidance concerning containment on the part of frontline officers. We look forward to hearing practical proposals for how to ensure the guidance is translated into action on the ground.

# Use of force

16. In its 2009 Report, Nurturing the British Model of Policing, only one police force (West Yorkshire) was found to be us ing the correct de finition of the ter m 'proportionate' with respect to the use of force in its training materials. The recent HMIC Report found, with

<sup>05.</sup> 5

<sup>6</sup> Q7.

Q18.

regard to the use of fo rce, that there is still a very broad range of interpretations within police forces of 'proporti onality' in this area, from "the minimum required to achi eve the legitimate aim" (the correct definition) through to such inaccurate explanations of the term as "corresponding" or "making defensible decisions".

17. The Metropolitan Police thou ght that HMIC's assessment of its understanding of the use of force was "a little harsh". We were pleased to hear that the Metropolitan Police have changed their training on the use of force, which now starts off with "a whole first day about the proportionate use of force and the escalation of that process."9 We look forward to see ing the training materials on the use of force which are currently being finalised. 10

18. The Association of Chief Police Offices' guidelines on the policing of protest state that during demonstrations batons should only be used in a re asonable and proportionate manner by officers. Specific guida nce on the use of ba tons is set out in the ACPO Manual of Guidance on K eeping the P eace. 11 It states that "the level of force should be reas onable and proportionate (i.e. the mi nimum required to meet a lawful ob jective). However, we were surprised to find that there appears to be no specific guidance setting out the circumstances in which the use of the baton against the head might be justifiable. The human rights requirement that the use of force be proportionate requires operational guidance to frontline officers which deals directly with this issue. We recommend that such detailed guidance about the use of batons be drawn up, and that in the meantime **training reflects** this concern. The us e of hors es in s ome of the demons trations of November and Dec ember 2010 was controversial and claims were m ade ab out horses "charging" which were challenged by the police in their evidence to us. Thi sisan issue which we hope to look at in more detail in the future.

# **Undercover officers**

19. On a broader point, in the light of recent public concern about the use of undercover police officers in peaceful pr otest movements, we asked the Metropolitan Police to confirm that u ndercover p olice officers are not bein g us ed i n t he tr ade u nion **movement.** We und erstand the considerable public benefits that can be obtained by the appropriate use of properly authorised covert intelligence gather ing within a proper regulatory frame work. We all so understand the important need to protect the safety of legitimately deployed undercover officers. The response to our questions was that the Metropolitan Police are "not in a position to confirm or deny what level of undercover officers will be deployed in the event."12

## **Lessons learned**

20. In its evidence to us, HMIC fo reefully argued that the le ssons to be learned from events m ust be extracted ve ry quickly and as similated by thos e on the ground. The

```
8
    O99.
```

<sup>10</sup> Qs 102 and 104.

<sup>11</sup> Appendix 1, pp. 106-7.

<sup>12 0106.</sup> 

system for doing this needs to be more nimble, compared to the lengthy and arduous process of policy r eviews and the form ulation of new guidance in volving AC PO, HMIC, the National Policing Improvement Agency and individual forces. We agree. We also sense that in the context of the changing profile of protest, those or ganising demonstrations will be keen to learn what lessons they can both from the difficult circumstances of the November and December protests and the larger and more diverse TUC demonstration planned for 26 March.

21. The issue of policing an d protest within the framework of respect for human rights is an important one for this Committee, and indeed is of vital concern for everyone in a democracy, and we very much hope to return to it in the near future.

# Conclusions and recommendations

# The TUC 'March for the Alternative'—Saturday 26 March

- 1. We welcome the high degree of co-operation between the Metropolitan Police and the TUC in planning for the demonstration on 26 March. We hope that this will be reflected in a successful and peaceful demonstration in which all participants feel that they have exercised their democratic right to protest. We also hope that this example of good practice will be fo llowed and generalised in the future, including, so far as possible, in relation to smaller scale and more impromptu protests than the proposed TUC march. (Paragraph 7)
- 2. We also welcome the involve ment of expert human rights and civil liberties NGOs parations fo r the TUC Ma rch and the plan to involve such as Liberty in pre independent human rights observers and advisers, as well as representatives of the organisers, in the control room during the demonstration itself. (Paragraph 7)

## **Communications**

- 3. We welcome the Metropolitan Police's development of its capacity to communicate directly with protestors by means of social media such as Twit ter, and through the use of lea flets di stributed to pro testors and tailo red for the demonstration in question. (Paragraph 9)
- 4. We recommend that the organisers of fut ure demonstrations ensure that they have arrangements in place to commun icate with protestors during the dem onstration, including about the route of the march or any c hanges to that route, and make the best use of social media to do so. (Paragraph 11)

# Containment or "kettling"

5. We consider it the respons ibility of demonstrators and organisers to recognise that failure to protest peace efully will require the police to take action, but there does appear to be a lac k of clarity about the level or seriousness of the vi olence that must have occurred before containment or "kettling" can be resorted to. We are concerned about the a pparent lack of opportunity for non-violent protestors to leave the contained or "kettled" c rowd, the a dequacy of arr angements to ens ure that the particularly vulnerable such as disabled people are identified and helped to leave the containment, and the general lack of information available to the protestors about how a nd where to lea ve. We consider that there remains considerable room to improve the understanding of the ACPO Guidance concerning containment on the part of frontline officers. We look forward to hearing practical proposals for how to ensure the guidance is translated into action on the ground. (Paragraph 15)

## Use of force

6. We were pleased to hear that the Metropolitan Police have changed their training on the use of force, which now st arts off with "a whole first day about the proportionate

- use of force and the escalation of that process." We look forwar d to seeing the training materials on the use of force which are currently being finalised. (Paragraph 17)
- 7. We were surpri sed to find that there appear s to be no specific guidance setting out the circumstances in which the use of the baton against the head might be justifiable. The human rights requirement that the use of force be proportionate requires operational guidance to front line officers which deals directly with this issue. We recommend that such detailed guidance about the use of batons be drawn up, and that in the meantime training reflects this concern. (Paragraph 18)

# **Undercover officers**

8. In the light of recent public concern about the use of undercover police officers in peaceful protest movements, we asked the Metropolitan Police to confirm that undercover police officers are not being used in the trade union movement. The response to our questions was that the Metropolitan Police are "not in a position to confirm or deny what level of undercover officers will be deployed in the event." (Paragraph 19)

#### Lessons learned

9. In its evidence to us , HMIC forcefully argued that the lessons to be learned from events must be extracted very quickly and assimilated by those on the ground. The system for doing this needs to be more nimble, compared to the lengthy and arduous process of policy reviews and the formulation of new guidance involving ACPO, HMIC, the National Policing Improvement Agency and individual forces. We agree. (Paragraph 20)

# **Formal Minutes**

# Tuesday 22 March 2011

Members present:

Dr Hywel Francis MP, in the Chair

Lord Bowness Lord Dubs Lord Morris of Handsworth Baroness Stowell of Beeston

Dr Julian Huppert MP Mr Dominic Raab MP Mr Richard Shepherd MP

\*\*\*\*\*

Draft Report, Facilitating Peaceful Protest, proposed by the Chairman, brought up and read.

*Ordered*, That the draft Report be read a second time, paragraph by paragraph.

Paragraphs 1 to 21 read and agreed to.

Summary agreed to.

Resolved, That the Report be the Tenth Report of the Committee to each House.

Ordered, That the Chairman make the Report to the Ho use of Commons and that Lord Bowness make the Report to the House of Lords.

Ordered, That embargoed copies of the Re port be made available in ac cordance with the provisions of Standing Order No. 134.

Written evidence reported and ordered to be published on 18 January, 1 February and 22 March was ordered to be reported to the House for printing with the Report.

[Adjourned till Tuesday 29 March at 2.00 pm

# **Declaration of Lords Interests**

# **Lord Bowness**

Close relative of a member of the Territorial Support Group, Metropolitan Police.

# **Lord Morris of Handsworth**

Former President of the TUC.

A full list of Members' interes ts can be found in the Regi ster of L ords' I nterests: http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld/ldreg/reg01.htm

# Witnesses

Tuesday 14 December 2010	Page
Aaron Porter, President of the National Union of Students and Simon Hardy, Spokesperson for the National Campaign against Fees and Cuts	Ev 1
Assistant Commissioner Chris Allison, Metropolitan Police Service and Temporary Chief Constable Sue Sim, Northumbria Police, ACPO lead on Public Order and Public Safety	Ev 6
Tuesday 1 March 2011	
Nigel Stanley and Carl Roper, Trades Union Congress	Ev 12
Jo Kaye, Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary	Ev16
Assistant Commissioner Lynne Owens and Commander Bob Broadhurst, Metropolitan Police Service	Ev19

# List of written evidence

1	Letter from the Chair, to Assistant Commissioner Allison, Metropolitan Police	e Service,
	20 December 2010	p 16

- 2 Letter to the Chair, from Assistant Commissioner Allison, Metropolitan Police Service, 24 January 2011
- 3 Letter from the Chair, to Rt Hon Theresa May, Home Secretary, 12 January 2011 p 34
- 4 Letter to the Chair, from Rt Hon Nick Herbert MP, Minister of State for Policing and Criminal Justice, Home Office, January 2011 p 37

# Written Evidence

# 1. Letter from the Chair, to Assistant Commissioner Allison, Metropolitan Police Service, **20 December 2010**

Thank you for providing evidence on 14 December on the policing of the student protests in November and December 2010. I a m writing to follow-up on a number of issues, some of which I r aised at the e nd of the session. I have set these questions out below. I would be grateful if you could respond to them by close of play on Monday 24 January 2011.

- 1. You told us that on 9 December the containment strategy was used on protestors in Parliament Square until around 9pm when the remaining demonstrators were moved to Westminster Bridge. You also told us that containment was used as a last resort after disorder broke out. I would be grateful if you could provide us with more detail on the decision making process, in particular:
  - (a) The degree of disorder and the attendant risk to public safety which triggered the decision to use the containment technique;
  - (b) How the commanding officer determined that containment was a necessary and proportionate response to that risk;
  - (c) Whether advice on human rights issues was taken by the commanding officer prior to making that decision, and/or had the decision-making officer had training on human rights and the right to protest?
  - (d) Why it was necessary to contain demonstrators for as long as 7 hours?
  - (e) Whether the necessity of the maintaining the containment tactic was regularly reviewed during this time? Can you provide us with evidence to show that these regular reviews took place?
- 2. You told us during the evidence session that of ficers communicated with those demonstrators on 9 December who were being contained in Parliament Squ are including through the use of a "warni ng and informing" ta nnoy sy stem. The repre sentatives of the N ational U nion of Students and the National Campaign Against Fees and Curts told us that communications were not received by all demonstrators.
  - (a) Please provide more detail on the "warning and informing" tannoy system used;
  - (b) What st eps w ere tak en by y ou to en sure t hat c ommunications were re ceived throu ghout the contained crow d, and to facilitate supplementary information being provided by stewards and marshals, if any.
  - (c) What were those being contained told by the police about:
    - (i) the reasons for the containment,
    - (ii) the likely duration of the containment,
    - (iii) access to faci lities and how to exit the containment? W hat ot her in formation was communicated to the contained demonstrators?
- 3. During the evidence session Mr Porter of the National Union of Students questioned what efforts had been made by the polic et o gather i nformation on d emonstrators t hat had c aused trouble du ring the demonstrations on 10, 24 and 30 November and how this information was used to police the demonstrations on 9 December. Can you explain what intelligence was gathered on those expected to be participating on the demonstrations on 9 December and how this informed the policing strategy on this date?

- 4. The Association of Chief Police Off ices' g uidelines on t he pol icing o f pro test sta te that during demonstrations batons should only be used in a rea sonable and proportionate manner by officers. Can you comment on whether the use of batons on 9 December was both re asonable and proportionate and provide evidence for your view? Is there any more specific guidance about how batons should be used, e.g. are there any s pecific in structions t hat officers us ing batons should attempt to avoid blow s to the heads of demonstrators?
- 5. There have been reports that a disabled demonstrator was pulled from his wheelchair by police officers on 9 December. Is specific guidance and training available for officers on the treatment of disabled demonstrators during protests?
- 6. You d escribed to us a n "active a dvance" made by m ounted officers on 24 November t o disperse demonstrators, but told us that no such advance was used on 9 December. Can you comment on suggestions that mounted officers approached those contained in Parliament Square on 9 Dec ember at a fast pace and explain the purpose of the advance in this case, given that the demonstrators were already contained and so had nowhere to move to?<sup>1</sup> You described the "active advance" as an ACPO-approved tactic. Is there any specific guidance on when and how it should be deployed?

I thank you agai n for provi ding evide nce to the Committee and enc ourage you to i nclude any further information you feel would be helpful to the Committee in your reply.

#### 20 December 2010

# 2. Letter to the Chair, from Assistant Commissioner Allison, Metropolitan Police Service, 24 January 2011

I am writing in response to your letter dated 22 December 2010. In it, you ask me to respond to a number of questions following my a ppearance in front of the Joint Committee on Human Rights on the 14 D ecember 2010.

The att ached t wenty fi ve page document (Appendix 1) contains the answer s to those questions as be st I possibly can, with the information having been pulled together from a large number of the officers' decision logs and such records from the day that time has allowed us to review. I apologise for the lengt hof the document but I feel that it is n ecessary to be that long to properly answer your questions and provide an explanatory narrative. The Metropolitan Police Service accepts that it is fully accountable for its actions and I hope that the detail that I have provided in the report shows our willingness to fully explain what we do and why we do it. I have also attached other supporting material that is referenced in the document.

As you will see from the document, there are extensive references to the Silver Commander who was the tactical decision maker on the day. Regretfully, he has been on an extended period of annual leave abroad and is not contactable until he returns to work in the second week of Feb ruary which is after your deadline for a reply. As such, he has not had the oppor tunity to add any of his comments to the document or to assist in deciphering some of the writing in his logs which is why the word "illegible" appears in two extracts included in the report.

As I said at the beginning of my oral evidence, the student protests at the end of 2010 saw some of the most serious and sustained disorder the M PS had seen at public protest in nearly ten y ears. I p ay tribute to both those officers who worked on the front line and those who commanded them. The MP S fully accepts that people have a right to peacefully protest and will work with the or ganisers over any such protest. However, violence can never be justified in the name of protest and the MPS hopes that protests in the future are not marred by the disorder and damage that we witnessed in November and December.

#### **Question 1**

- 1. You told us that on 9 December the containment strategy was used on protestors in Parliament Square until around 9pm when the remaining demonstrators were moved to Westminster Bridge. You also told us that containment was used as a last resort after disorder broke out. I would be grateful if you could provide us with more detail on the decision making process, in particular:
  - (a) The degree of disorder and the attendant risk to public safety which triggered the decision to use the containment technique;
  - (b) How the commanding officer determined that containment was a necessary and proportionate response to that risk;
  - (c) Whether advice on human rights issues was taken by the commanding officer prior to making that decision, and/or had the decision-making officer had training on hum an rights and the right to
  - (d) Why it was necessary to contain demonstrators for as long as 7 hours?
  - (e) Whether the necessity of the maintaining the containment tactic was regularly reviewed during this time? Can you provide us with evidence to show that these regular reviews took place?
- 1. Your question touches on a number of areas that I will address in the following chronological order.
  - The availability of hum an rights advice and/or hum an rights training available to the Si lver Commander

- The degree of disorder leading to the decision to contain the protestors
- The determination of necessity of containment
- Silver's ongoing reviews of the containment tactic
- The duration of the containment

#### The availability of human rights advice and/or human rights training available to the Silver Commander

- 2. Across the MPS, human rights (HR) awareness training has been extensive and the fundamental principles that the European Convention (ECHR) and 1998 Act (HRA) seek to protect are firmly embedded in the conscience and actions of this organisation. This knowledge forms the foundation of public order command training.
- 3. The Silver Commander for this operation is part of the MPS's Public Order Cadre, established to ensure that only the most competent and capable officers are permitted to command these types of operations. The Cadre has an enviable reputation for the quality of the officers who serve on it and the results they routinely achieve.
- 4. The training of Ca dre officers is gro unded in a legal framework t hat i ncludes comp rehension and application of HR legislation. There are basically three levels of training that lead to an officer joining the Cadre and them remaining a part of it.

Foundation Course for Event and Major Incident Management

5. This is a mandatory course of all officers promoted to the r ank of Chief Inspector and t hose Inspectors responsible for planning op erations on London bo roughs. Office rs aspiring to join the Cadre must have completed this course.

Advance Public Order Command Training

- 6. This is effectively the process for joining the Cadre. Officers apply for selection and are assessed for their suitability. To join the course, they must pass an examination that includes a significant assessment of their HR knowledge, including Articles 2, 5, 9, 10 & 11.
- 7. The c ourse then c onsists of 3 separate m odules t hroughout which a ni ndividual's knowledge a nd application of the whole legal framework is continuously tested.
- 8. The modules continue to be pass or fail and there is an approximately 30% attrition rate on first attempt.

Continuation Training

- 9. Once accepted into the Cadre, officers are required to attend 2 workshops and 1 seminar a year.
- 10. Additionally, each commander is expected to show operational competence by commanding at least 3 operations a year, the quality of which is objectively reviewed by peers. When they are assessed as experienced enough, they are allowed to command more complex operations.
- 11. A record is maintained of each commander's operational activity. Since 1999, the Silver Commander for 9 December has commanded at least 351 operations as either Bronze, Silver or Gold. In the calendar year up to 9 Decem ber, he had comm anded 8 2 pub lic or der e vents, m aking him one o f th e most expe rienced commanders in the MPS.
- 12. It is therefore not surprising to find constant references to HR within the documents associated with the student pro test of 9 De cember. Of course, the fact that both the planning of the police response and our subsequent actions are well documented is the first indication of the Silver Commander's awareness of his HR

responsibilities. I would like to give you a sense of Silver's awareness of HR issues from some of the entries in documents he created.

13. Firstly, the Silver Commander produced a planning document that was richly sown with HR considerations. I would cite the following abstracts from the planning document. These are not exhaustive references but give an insight as to how intrinsic HR considerations were to the planning of the whole operation:

Legal Powers:

All legal po wers will be considered in accordance with the Human Rights Act, in respect of proportionality, legality, accountability and necessity.

While considering tactics I have ensured that the various Bronze Commanders pay particular attention to the various articles within ECHR le gislation. They have recorded this in their individual tactical plans.

Use of Force

ECHR Article 2 controls the use of force, as does ECHR Article 3 and Article 8

When extreme or excessive force is used, or where the application or force is maintained for longer than is necessary to achieve a lawful aim, this may constitute a violation of ECHR 3 [...] or ECHR 8 Human Rights

I have considered human rights throughout the planning of these event. The tactical plans reflect these consideration as they apply

[...]

Containment

- [...] I have ensured that Bronze Commanders are aware of the need to consider, the Right to Liberty, (ECHR Article 5) and that the tactic must be resorted to in good faith, be proportionate to the situation making the measure necessary and not be enforced for longer than is necessary.
- 14. Later, in his log of the day's events, Silver continues to demonstrate an awareness of how his decisions might engage with HR considerations and some of this will become apparent in later answers, particularly with reference to proportionality.
- 15. The Silver Commander had also commanded the demonstrations on 24 and 30 November 2010 and had discussed his decision making at those events with a senior lawyer within the MPS Directorate of Legal Services. As the principle witness in the MPS defence to a judicial review claim arising from the containment of demonstrators in Bi shopsgate on 1 April 2010, he is also particularly aware of and familiar with the engagement with hum an rights is sues that is inherent to a public or derevent of this nature. The MPS Directorate of Legal Services was available on 9 December 2010 to provide advice and guidance as required, and did in fact provide advice in relation to the incursion of demonstrators on to Parliament Square Gardens during the afternoon.
- 16. The Silver commander also had the use of a Tactical Adviser on the day, who was a specialist public order trainer from the MPS Public Order and Operational Support Unitin Gravesend. In this role, he provides human rights training to officers within the public order context and was therefore particularly able to assist with any human rights considerations that arose.

The degree of disorder leading to the decision to contain protestors

- 17. The earliest recorded disorder occurred at 11.25 when protestors were reported to be climbing statues in Parliament Square.
- 18. There was a degree of disorder almost from the outset of the march from University of London in Malet Street.
- 19. The ULU notified march commenced as agreed but at 11.55 a number of persons were reported in Malet Street wearing masks, carrying pad ded shields and we aring hard hats. At 12.07, marchers in Malet Street began throwing placards at police. Police decided to take a negotiated approach to stop this from happening rather than t hrough e nforcement. By this time there were about 2000 pe ople in M alet Street. I ntelligence suggested that some people had concealed weapons about them.
- 20. The next significant event was at about 13.15 when the front of the ULU march started to fight with police and attempted to break away from the main body and deviate from the agreed route. A high level of force was used in this breakout, which required other officers to be drafted in to redirect protestors back to the agreed route. Shortly afterwards, the levels of threat within London started to increase. This included reports of a petrol bo mber in the area of Traf algar Squa re and the first of many sustained assaults against poli ce formations. At 1507 a man was reported to be in Parliament square with a firearm although this was never substantiated by arrest or seizure of the weapon.
- 21. Up to 15.23 hours, the time at which Silver directed a full containment of Parliament Square, there are over 40 incidents of violent or disorderly behaviour recorded in the main bronze command logs.
- 22. The following are key entries taken from Silver's public order decision log (rationale in brackets taken from the right side of log):
  - 13.18 Bronze 4 asks: Doe s Silver want the march contained. Silver states not at this time. Let them continue on prescribed route. (Containment at Trafalgar Square—decision not to be attempted at this time. Rationale: [...] The containment tactic is one of last resort and at this time, although there have been some outbreaks of violence, the march is sticking to its route. I have fortified Parliament Square itself to prevent incursion, and therefore will allow protestors to continue on agreed route at this time.)
  - 13.37 Bronze 9 informed that march entering P. Square
  - **13.48** To Bronze 5.2. Request for demonstrators to be encouraged into Whitehall as the blockage in P. Square is causing safety issues. (Encourage march to move out of Parliament Square. Rationale: March has stopped in Parliament Square at junction with Whitehall/Parliament Street/Great George Street. This is causing those at the back to bunch up and (illegible) on those at the front. The agreed route is up Whitehall and then into Victoria Embankment.)
  - **13.56** (Lockdown all VPs (vulnerable premises)—rationale—subjects been moving away from march and route. I do not want unlawful building incursions and damage and fear a breach of the peace.)
  - **13.59** (Officers to withdraw to s econdary line across front of Parliament. Rat ionale for th is—The numbers on the march is 15–20,000 people. The front of the march is static and there is some disorder. The pressure being put on the demonstrators and police lines is now getting dangerous. Bronze 2 and I have agreed a contingency in the event of this happening. T his will be officers withdrawing back to secondary lines at Broa d San ctuary and Vic toria St reet. Th is allo ws the p rotestors bo the ides of Parliament Square and will relieve pressure.)
  - 14.06 (All offic ers to wear full protective equi pment. Rationale: vio lence being offered is no w very extreme. Missiles, in cluding flares, have been thrown. The "p rotestors" have broken down the Heras fencing around the grass area of Parliament Square.)
  - 14.08 Silver meeting [...] Tactical plan discussed re Parliament Square Cordons: Great George Street, Broad Sanctuary. Not a containment. Exit via Whitehall. (Cordons at locations to prevent entry into POW—cordons in place preventing people in Parlia ment Square from en tering PO W. I have left

Whitehall open as this is the agreed route out and onto the rally. Officers to encourage people to leave via this exit. The cordons are in place to preve nt a breach of the peace at POW and to main tain the democratic process of Parliament.)

- **14.16** Fencing being used as a weapon.
- 14.22 St Margarets Church next to Westminster Abbey damaged.
- **14.47** *Meeting with Gold: Tactics discussed re dispersal. Will wait until after vote.*
- 14.51 Bronze 4.2—Large group hea ding n orth in Whi tehall. Silver—e stablish where they a re goin g. OK—Embankment—Victoria.
- 15.08 Churchill statue damaged by students.
- 15.11 Decision made not to go into crowd in Parliament Square at this time. (Not to enter Parliament Square and protect statues—Rationale: Numbers involved in violence are very high. 1000 seen to move from cordon line to cordon line. Information re missiles are they are concrete, snooker balls and such like. These could easily kill. Also information re possible firearm. At this time, entry will only be made if life at risk not to protect property at the expense of police officers getting seriously injured.)
- 15.12 Victoria Street cordon breached. Small number break through. Cordon back in, Missiles thrown, including flares.
- 15.15 Federation: yellow jackets not flame proof. Silver: me ssage to all bronzes. Yellow jackets to be
- **15.18** *More flares used. Police being attacked from behind.*
- 23. These entries show a progressive and systematic escalation of violence on police, a number of hours before the Parliament Square containment was implemented. The level of violence was way ab ove simple pushing and s hoving t hat mi ght be expected from a large crowd. I would highlight the deliberate de struction of fencing, protecting the grassed area of Parliament Square that was used to attack police across the barriers erected to protect the Palace of Westminster (PoW). The throwing of flares could have resulted in serious burns and the variety of other missiles could and did injure officers and protestors alike.

#### The determination of necessity of containment

- 24. The above extracts demonstrate the level of violence faced by police and indeed, those who wished to protect peacefully.
- 25. In the face of these events, Silver decided that the containment of Pa rliament Square was necessary at 15.23; his log again captures his rationale.

Silver mee ting with Gold. Containment discussed. Due to se rious offences being committed. People allowed to leave if no t committed offences or vulnerable. Loud hailers to be used. Gold agreed. (Full containment of Pa rliament Square au thorised. R ationale: T here has been serious vi olence wi thin Parliament Square over the last 2 ho urs. Demonstrators have attacked police lines intent it seems in getting through to POW. This will cause serious outbreaks of further damage and violence. I fear that unless I contain this group in Parliament Square, they will move onto other roads and rampage through London. I fear a real and imminent breach of the peace that I will not be able to prevent unless I contain them. I will then look for options to arrest people for offences, and disperse the group in small manageable nu mbers as soon as p ossible. H owever, I d o take into acc ount that the rea son for the demonstration is the vote in POW and therefore release before this is un likely u nless the c rowd dynamics c hange dra matically. I have briefed all bro nzes to en sure di scretion is used in allo wing vulnerable people out of cordon wherever possible. I am also cognisant of the fac t that Whitehall has

remained open for some time so they could leave if they had wished to do so [...] I have instructed the bronzes on cordons to undertake role of letting people out and helping vulnerable people out.)

# Silver's ongoing review of the containment tactic

26. Silver's review of tactical options was a continuous process however, the containment tactic in particular was subject to regular and well documented review. There were 3 specific reviews and 2 other decisions specifically intended to bring the containment to an end. Again, I provide the relevant extracts to demonstrate both the timing of, and considerations made during, reviews.

1550—review con tainment. To Conti nue. The level of violence continues. I now have groups of protestors in the west end causing damage and violence. The numbers are 100-150. I fear this will even larger if I do not contain this group in Parliament Square who already have shown their propensity to extreme violence; and I therefore fear a real and imminent breach of the peace if I rel ease them. I am satisfied that everything is being done to extract vulnerable people by the bronzes on the ground and have witnessed this myself.

1725—Review of containment. There is little change from when I last reviewed the circumstances of the containment. However I have met with Bx [Bronze] 11—Supt Bird and asked him to command my dispersal when I authorise it to take place [...] Evidence gatherers and cameras will be at dispersal point to arrest persons for substantive offences. The vote is imminent in the House of Commons.

1842—Authority to deploy into Parliament Square to arrest offenders given to Bronzes; Rationale: The level of violence has not desisted over the last 4 hours. The [illegible] appear to be trying to [illegible] and damage as much as possible in and around the Parliament Square area. It is now necessary to stop this as if these buildings catch light there is a real and imminent danger to life. I therefore want officers to intervene. This will mean the level of force will have to be higher and proportionate to nullify the real threat posed by the demonstrators.

1957—Containment reviewed—no change in circumstances at this time. BX's still releasing people if possible.

2059—Authorise the clearance of Parliament Square into Bridge Street. Rationale: The Breaches of the Peace and Criminal Acts continue. It is now possible to move these people into a tighter containment. This will prevent them causing dama ge, violent acts and setting fires. The plan will mean forcing them into Bridge Street. This is also part of the dispersal plan. It is necessary to do this to stop the violence and damage that ha s been occurring in Parli ament Square. I note that the numbers in Parliament Square have reduced significantly. This is due to the hard work of "weeding out" some people (less of a threat) throughout the evening. Bx 11 is in overall charge of this tactic and the dispersal tactic following on from this.

#### The duration of the containment

27. The duration of 7 hour s that you refer to was directly linked to the sustained violence that continued through Parliament Square and e Isewhere up to the start of the final dispersal detailed a bove. Large groups continued to roam the West End and some of these committed acts of violence, mostly notably at 19.21 when a group attacked HRH The Pri nce of Wales and The Duchess of Cornwall. There were other incursions and violence used against commercial premises and the National Gallery, where 100 protestors forced their way in.

28. Within Parliament Square, some of the worst a cts of violence of the whole day con tinued in cluding repeated attacks on the Treasury building and the Supreme Court. Fires were set and police lines came under constant and sustained attacks.

29. However, it would be wrong to suggest that there was a continuous containment throughout this period. There is extensive evidence within command logs to show discretionary releases of peac eful or vulnerable protestors throughout the whole period. However, perhaps the most signi ficant figure to support this would be that at the start of events in Parliament Square there were 15,000–20,000 people present. At the point that the release plan was initiated there were only about four thousand remaining in the square.

#### **Question Two**

- 2. You told us during the evidence session that of ficers communicated with those demonstrators on 9 December who were being contained in Parliament Square including through the use of a "warning and informing" tannoy system. The representatives of the National Union of Students and the National Campaign Against Fees and Curts told us that communications were not received by all demonstrators.
  - (a) Please provide more detail on the "warning and informing" tannoy system used;
  - (b) What st eps were taken by you to ensure that communications were received throughout the contained crowd, and to facilitate supplementary information being provided by stewards and marshals, if any.
  - (c) What were those being contained told by the police about:
    - (i) the reasons for the containment,
    - (ii) the likely duration of the containment,
    - (iii) access to faci lities and how to exit the containment? W hat ot her in formation was communicated to the contained demonstrators?
- 30. I note from the outset that the representatives of the NUS and the NC AFC state that communications were not received by all demonstrators. We would not contest that this was likely among a crowd of up to 20,000 people, a significant number of whom were committing acts of violence and engaged in wide scale disorder. Ensuring contact is effective with everybody in a crowd that large, in the open air, would be a challenge for us even if they were entirely passive.
- 31. Notwithstanding the violence that ensued there were other environmental factors that created limitations to communication including:
  - Traffic noise
  - Acoustics
  - Helicopters (police and media)
  - Amplified music within the crowd
- 32. That said, we recognise the importance of communication, which should of course start with the provision of effective information being provided to protestors by the organisers of the event. From the outset this appears not to have happened and indeed, we have received communication from students involved in 9 December protest who acknowledge that they were not even aware of the route they were meant to be taking.
- 33. When it became necessary for the police to take over responsibility for communicating with the crowd, because the organisers had lost control, we had planned to do so in the following ways:
  - Direct verbal contact between officers and public
  - Amplified voice communications using loud-hailers or vehicle mounted tannoy systems
  - Visual communication through "dot-matrix" display boards
  - New and old media
- 34. There are variations on these themes and in some circumstances, it might be appropriate to use banners or written material such as leaflets. All communication systems have their uses and limitations particularly when taking into account the environmental factors explained above.

- 35. On 9 Dec ember the primary means of contact with protestors was through officers talking directly with them and by using the tannoy systems described above. The dot-matrix system was available however it was not deployed. The system is required to run on a petrol generator and there were concerns on this occasion that it could not be sited in such a place so as to make it effective and also ensure it was not overrun. You will appreciate the implications of violent protestors gaining access to a generator's petrol tank.
- 36. Once the crowd had become violent, it was not safe to enter the crowd in order to communicate with them. The operation became reliant on direct communication between officers at cordon lines or from the vehicle tannoys that can broadcast to a greater distance. The tannoys are not sophisticated systems, being part of the vehicles normal specification. They are almost always positioned behind police lines and therefore in front of protestors. As a result, those at the front of the crowd would have he ard the message though it is accepted that those in the centre or at the back of the crowd may not have heard the messages being passed.
- 37. Direct ve rbal communications would have become vi rtually impossible once it became necessary for officers to don protective helmets and once attacks on police started, in many cases verbal communication would not have been more comprehensive than officers shouting "Get Back".
- 38. I would wish to reinforce the point that the containment was not establi shed until some significant time after wide scale disorder had started and this made the universal communication of containment information all but impossible.
- 39. What is clear from command logs is that commanders on the ground were made very aware of the instructions to release vulnerable people. Some commanders report personally passing this information to the officers actively involved in controlling crowds and there are examples that this message was getting through to significant sections of it: I cite, as an example of how effective communication was, the significant reduction in crow size that occurred over the period of containment.
- 40. As an example of how individual officers communicated I provide the following abstract from PC 470LX who in her Evidence and Acti on Book provides the following information about what her team did when positioned at the Victoria Street cordon sometime between 1330 and 1530.
  - [...] slowly there were growing numbers of protestors. They were given advice of where exit points where if they wanted to leave. Protestors stayed and were getting aggressive verbally. We informed them that the cordon was in place under section 3 of the Criminal law Act to prevent any further damage to property in the street and under common law to stop a breach of the peace [...]
- 41. Prior to this event, PC 470LX had been subject to a number of attacks by protestors. She was typical of many officers that day who started work at about 0 900 and were then continuously deployed into violent situations until nearly midnight. I think that the calm manner in which she has attempted to communicate with a hostile crowd is a great reflection of the professionalism all of our officers displayed throughout the day.
- 42. There was no single "c orporate" message constructed, providing answers to the questions you pose in section c, and to most, the reason for containment would have been clearly visible a round them. I do not believe it was practical to give containment duration assessments as this was entirely dependent on Silver's continuing threat assessments.
- 43. With regard to communication be tween police and stewards, various command logs show that police officers tried to communicate with organisers in order to keep the protest moving through Parliament Square. Again, I will provide first hand te stimony from one of my commanders who p erhaps best articulates the challenges of working with the organisers:
  - 1342; I am negotiating with several different stewards/organisers and trying to get them to restart the march. I have explained to them there is a risk of crushing further up the march as the crowd becomes more dense. They are not engaging with the crowd so I have asked for them to use loud hailers. They state they are waiting for a b anner to a rrive before they will restart but I have again explained the importance of restarting the march along the agreed route to stop harm being caused to people in the crowd.

44. It would appe ar from this entry that not only had the organisers lost control by allowing the march to come to a halt but that they were also being uncooperative with the police. Shortly after this time, there were significant outbreaks of violence and it appears that very little recorded communication continued between the stewards and the police thereafter.

# **Question 3**

- 3. During the evidence session Mr Porter of the National Union of Students questioned what efforts had been made by the polic et o gather i nformation on d emonstrators t hat had c aused trouble du ring the demonstrations on 10, 24 and 30 November and how this information was used to police the demonstrations on 9 December. Can you explain what intelligence was gathered on those expected to be participating on the demonstrations on 9 December and how this informed the policing strategy on this date?
- 45. In answering this question I will restrict myself to generalities, as I would not wish to make public some of our i ntelligence gatheri ng m ethods. To expose our processes could undermine the effectiveness of our methods or expose to risk those who deliver information into it.
- 46. There are however general matters that I am happy to share with you and which I hope will answer this question to your satisfaction.
- 47. Clearly, the MPS is always capable of responding to large-scale disorder and our commanders, planners and offic ers are regarded as being world leaders in managing public order events. We have considerable experience from policing some 4500 events a year in the Capital, most of which pass peacefully and without incident.
- 48. In many respects the policing of the recent student protests has presented the Metropolitan police Service with un precedented challenges. Protests descending into lawlessness and protestors using levels of violence not seen in recent times, has meant that the MPS has had to learn and adapt so as to provide an appropriate and proportionate response. The fact that these protests form part of a connected chain presents opportunities to learn about individual protestors, their organisation and tactics.
- 49. Very few pro tests require a significant in telligence input. In essence most are single events, many are organised by recognised groups or institutions and most are done in full cooperation with the police and local authorities.
- 50. In most cases, the police will have some capacity to gather information as an event progresses or it descends into disorder. This might be through police evidence gatherers deployed as part of the operation, or by some thing as simple as m onitoring CCTV networks. Much of the thrust of this activity is in gathering evidence to support subsequent prosecutions if appropriate.
- 51. Such information may be of value as intelligence but most is not.
- 52. I think it is important to note that gener ally speaking, it is individuals who commit offences and not organisations and the opportunity to pre-empt which individuals may turn up to a ny particular protest may be very limited indeed.
- 53. The first student protests, which had been planned for many months, were expected by the police to be lawful and peaceful with the organisers being bo th willing and cap able of ful filling their responsibilities. Accordingly there will have been very little information gathering associated with them other than to monitor open sources such as social networking sites and public communications from the organisers themselves.
- 54. In the case of the student protests the MPS recognises the democratic rights of unions to exist without state interference. We have neither the resources nor political mandate to actively gather intelligence about the NUS or any other union. Moreover, the nature of student unions in particular, is that of transient, informal membership and thus identification within these organisations would be extremely difficult.

- 55. What the MPS does do is monitor the public actions of individuals associated with organisations. In this way, it migh t be poss ible to predic t, based on their past actions, that individuals from Organisation A are more likely to turn to disorder than those from Organisation B and an appropriate policing response can be developed to match the presumed risks. We know from experience that those who would undermine peaceful protests prefer to work under the cover of large numbers and therefore we can add to the predictability equation, the anticipated size of the crowd.
- 56. It is fair to say that the rapid evolution of the student protests has resulted in a similarly rapid development of the way in which the MPS gathers, manages and uses information to inform our intelligence about them.
- 57. Up to and i ncluding the 9 De cember protests, much of the focus was to gather information and use it retrospectively to identify offe nders. One of the limiting factors in exploiting the inform ation gathere d at earlier protests has been the scale of material seized and limited time between protests in which to view, assess and use it. There been 210 people arrested for offences committed at student protests and many of these will have come about because of the information gathered on those days. 60% of these people had never come to police notice before and of those that had, few were known to us for protest-connected criminality.
- 58. Sometimes, information becomes intelligence in that it can be used to predict criminality and therefore prevent or disrupt it. However, in many cases, this might not be practical. Mr Porter's question regarding our efforts to identify previous trouble-makers might be taken to presume that even having done so, police could act to neutralise their influence. The reality is of course far different.
- 59. Firstly, among thousands, it is n igh on impossible to say with certainty, which individuals may attend a protest.
- 60. Secondly, even people who have antecedence for trouble making have a right to attend protests unfettered by police i nterference, unless they are breaking the law or are known to be intending to do so. E ven then, if they are identified among crowds of thousands, many of whom may be wearing face coverings, there are significant risks if attempts are made to remove them, even in the course of them committing offences.
- 61. It is far better to manage the situation that presents itself and deal with individuals when it is safe to do so.
- 62. Thirdly, too e arly an i ntervention r isks allegations of heavy-handed p olicing a nd ri sks providing a n excuse, albeit one that is always unjustified, for those who would commit crime.
- 63. What became apparent from earlier protest is that those attending were a loose a ffiliation. It might be possible to predict (but not with certainty) which groups would turn up but it is virtually impossible to predict which individuals might join them. We saw legitim ately interested parties attending to protest but these were joined by gains from elsewhere in London that were attending with the sole purpose of causing violence. Subsequently, we were able to monitor some locations in London so as to provide advanced warning of who and how many may be on their way to central London.
- 64. Although some of the earlier protests had been mostly peaceful there had been clear example that led police to believe that escalations to violence were not only possible but were perhaps likely. In response to this, there was a broader intelligence gathering operation in place on 9 December to provide commanders with an alert as to who might be attending.
- 65. On 9 December, the re we re opportunities to gather intelligence in Parliament Square and these were actively used. Based on this intelligence we were able to track and respond to a number of developments and arrests for some serious offences continue to this day.
- 66. Based on some of the learning from 9 December, we were able to create a more sophisticated information gathering operation on su bsequent protests that created more opportunities for taking immediate action against offenders identified from earlier protests. This process will continue in future protests.
- 67. Lastly I would like to make brief comment on the information given to officers working within public order serials.

68. The basis of public order policing is of serials of police officers working as teams to an overall tactical plan. Officers rarely work independently and an officer being able to identify an individual suspect from an earlier incident is not only unlikely but is also likely to be un-actionable. It would not, for example, be appropriate for an individual or even a serial of o fficers to independently move into a crowd to detain someone they had recognised from a n earlier event wit hout this being part of the overall tactical plan: To do so would risk undermining the whole tactical plan. Therefore, providing individual officers with photographs or foo tage of shoes who had or were likely to commit offences could be counter-productive and was not done, except with specialist evidence gathering teams.

69. Similarly, the mindset of officers engaged in public order policing is very important and it was decided not to show video footage to officers so as not to cloud their views of events that may unfold in front of them on the day.

#### **Question Four**

- 4. The Association of Chief Police Off ices' g uidelines on t he pol icing o f pro test sta te that during demonstrations batons should only be used in a rea sonable and proportionate manner by officers. Can you comment on whether the use of batons on 9 December was both re asonable and proportionate and provide evidence for your view? Is there any more specific guidance about how batons should be used, e.g. are there any s pecific in structions t hat officers us ing batons should attempt t o avoid blows to demonstrators?
- 70. Before ans wering this question, it is important for me to point out that I am unable to comment on individual u ses of force o n 9 Decembe r. However, all p olice o fficers are a ll fully aware t hat t hey are individually accountable for any force they use.
- 71. You will appreciate that there are ongoing criminal investigations into the conduct of protestors and I would not wish to engage in discussion that would jeopardise the fairness of these or any subsequent criminal proceedings. Similarly, there is an IP CC investigation into some uses of force and it would be inappropriate for me to provide comment on these matters either.
- 72. However, I think it is useful to contextualise the use of force as posed by your question and I am happy to discuss how the MPS prepares its officers to use batons. I would like to address the following:
  - The law as it relates to use of force
  - Preventative planning to avoid use of force
  - The training of officers in the use of the baton

# The Law relating To Use of Force

- 73. The ACPO guidance to which you refer provides a number of considerations for the use of batons, among them being the imperative for reasonable and proportionate use. Although the deployment of batons is referred to specifically as tactical option in the ACPO manual, the use of batons is just one way in which a police officer may use force and is therefore covered by the same law that regulates any use of force.
- 74. Thus, the legality of an individual use of a baton in any situation is not governed by ACPO guidance, but determined by the laws that permit the use of force and should always derive from one of 3 sources. These are:
  - Section 3, Criminal Law Act 1967
  - Section 117, Police and Criminal Evidence Act, 1984
  - Common Law
- 75. Overlaid on this domestic le gislation is the requi rement to comply with the ar ticles of the European Convention on Human Rights. As you are aware, the 2010 ACPO Manual of Guidance "Keeping the Peace" was amended in the light of the recommendation and learning following on from the policing of the protests immediately prior to the G20 summit in April 2009. I en close a copy of the relevant section of that Manual

which relates to the legal framework for Police Use of Force (pages 34–37). The MPS was involved in the revision of the Manual and all the commanding officers for the policing operation on 9 December 2010 were familiar with the guidance.

76. Although there is no hierarchy a mong our domestic us e-of-force laws, each may be used a ccording to need and circumstance. Individual officers will commonly exercise their powers as they see fit under the legislation that is most appropriate to the circums tances they face. Ultimately, officers are in dividually accountable for their use of force.

77. In my view, there were many circumstances on the day when the use of batons would have been a wholly proportionate response to some of the extremes of force faced by officers.

#### Preventative Planning To Avoid Use of Force

- 78. I would like to make it very clear that contrary to evidence given to the Committee by others, my officers did everything that they could to avoid confrontations with protestors. This started with the operational plan.
- 79. The whole premise of the op erational plan was underpinned by the need to protect Parliament and the democratic processes being undertaken therein. You will appreciate the challenge of ensuring that Parliament remained accessible to those with legitimate rights of access while preventing those who would disrupt them. You will further appreciate the national and indeed, international implications of parliament being overrun by protestors wishing to prevent legitimate voting taking place.
- 80. The University of Lo ndon U nion had made clears tatements during our planning meeting that they intended to "march on Parliament" and the MPS sought to work with them to facilitate a peaceful protest.
- 81. You will have seen from media fo otage that there were clearly many within the crowd who sought to breach police lines that were probably the most effective barrier to mass invasion of Parliament. I have little doubt that had those lines not stood, there would have been a mass invasion of the Palace of Westminster (PoW), the results of which we could still very well be dealing with today.
- 82. Bearing this in mind, the planning principles that underpinned the policing operation on 9 December took account of the ne ed to create a de fensive barrier around PoW. Mindful of our extensive experience in policing protests we recognised that a simple police line, that would put o fficers "toe-to-toe" with protestors may be b oth insufficient to deal with a concerted attack on PoW and also create conditions where physical confrontation was more likely.
- 83. Accordingly, a box s hape barrier (known as a 'Wapping box') was erected across the front of Parliament with express intention of preventing the invasion of Parliament but with an equal purpose of preventing the need for officers and protestors to come into physical contact.
- 84. You will undoubtedly have seen protestors attacking this line with fencing that had been torn down from Parliament Square, using this as an extended we apon because they could not, themselves, physically re ach across the Wapping box barrier. A significant number of protestors attacked this line with such ferocity that barriers were crushed and officers had to resort to the use of batons to protect themselves and Parliament.

# The Training of Officers in the Use of Batons

- 85. The officers us ed to po lice the 9 Decem ber protest were drawn from many a reas of the Metrop olitan Police Service. Their normal duties are many and varied, ranging from detectives to safer neighbourhood officers as well as others from specialist departments. All have common training in the use of batons.
- 86. Every officer up to and inc luding the rank of Chief Inspector is required to undertake mandatory officer safety training every year. This is required to be for a minimum of 12 hours and covers those skill areas that involve u se of force including, tact ical c ommunications, u narmed skills, handcuffing, ba tons, and us e o f

incapacitant spray. This training is completed on a pass or fail basis, and officers unablet os atisfy the instructors that they are competent are given development until they can do so or are ultimately removed from operational duties.

87. It is important to note, particularly in the context of proportionality, that batons are not taught in isolation from other use of force methods. Equally important is the fact that practical skills are underpinned by a great emphasis on being able to understand how and why force should be used. In the past 10 years there has been a significant move towards more classroom based "scenario" training so that officers may better understand the rationales behind use of force and therefore be more accountable. Ultimately, while the baton is a blunt and relatively easy to use instrument, there are skills to be learned in using the correct methods of drawing and striking.

88. All use of force training is linked to the Officer Safety Model (OSM) that requires an officer to consider

- Impact Factors (including person concerned, object they may be using against police and place where incident is occurring)
- Risk Assessment (that would include an assessment of risks to the officer and the subject)
- Powers and Policies (domestic and human rights law as well as local policies)
- Tactical Options (ranging from talking to people to actually using force by various means)
- 89. Within this model, the use of batons is specifically linked to an understanding of alternative methods such as tactical communications (i.e. warning people to get back, or trying to calm them down), acknowledging the potential medical implications of using a baton on any particular part of the body and understanding the law in which use of force is applied.
- 90. The use of the officer safety model is a dynamic process, being a cycle that an officer can go through many times a minute in an environment such as Parliament Square. Of course, this is not a precise science and their remains a degree of subjective assessment that is clearly commensurate with the law as described above.
- 91. The overlaying of me dical considerations on the a ssessment process means that officers have a clear understanding of the consequences of any particular course of action. There is no prohibition on striking any part of the body but an officer would be expected to demonstrate their understanding of the consequences of any particular course of action and justify these in a legal context.
- 92. The use of batons in a pub lic order context does become more complex and o fficers who are trained to police public order events receive additional "technical" training. Specifically, it is more difficult to use a baton when carrying a shield a nd officers are taught how to do this and there is a specific "show-of-force" tactic where officers will collectively raise their batons in warning to protestors. This is a relatively unique tactic in that it is reliant on a 3<sup>rd</sup> party (commander) giving an order to u se force whereas this is almost always an individual decision for officers.
- 93. The "command" use of force is dictated by the conflict management model, which is a national model for determining what actions are appropriate based on; the information and intelligence available; the assessment of threat; the available powers, policies and procedures and the tactical options.
- 94. It may be that while an indi vidual officer does not perceive a thre at, the commander who has a much broader picture of the who le incide nt, may deem that use of force is necessary to meet the needs of the broader operation. On this basis, they may direct officers to use that force although the individual officers will remain accountable for the actual degree of force used. A simple example of this might be a line of police officers being directed to push a group of protestors towards a particular area. A simple guiding hand may be all the force that is required or, where eviolent resistance is encountered, a batton strike might be more appropriate. All of our officers and commanders are trained to understand the complexities of the use of force.
- 95. It is also recognised that the use of the baton in public order policing may occur in "toe-to-toe" situations that create additional difficulties. In a large and active crowd such as that in Parliament Square, officers may be faced with limited options as to where to strike persons using violence against them. In a crowd, a n officer

may only be a ble to strike a head or shoulders and may still find this necessary and re asonable even in recognition of the potential medical consequences.

96. In a de nsely packed and dynamic crowd there remains potential for collateral injuries where an officer may miss their intended target and strike an adjacent person if there is a sudden movement. This would be subject to a dynamic risk assessment where the offic er would weigh up the risks of st riking against the consequences of allowing violence to continue.

97. Finally, following the G 20 protests of 2009 there was an extensive review of our public order training including the use of batons. The Public Order Officer Safety Manual was rewritten to place a greater emphasis on human rights considerations. Included in this was review by a leading medical expert who was asked to consider the implications and provide advice on, the various techniques likely to be used.

98. In support of their training, officers have access in electronic format to the MPS Officer Safety Manual. This is a very lengthy resource and I enclose for you hear a print out of the section that specifically deals with the u se of t he baton, as we ll as the introductory sections that de al with use of force and the medical implications.2

## **Question Five**

- 5. There have been reports that a disabled demonstrator was pulled from his wheelchair by police officers on 9 December. Is specific guidance and training available for officers on the treatment of disabled demonstrators during protests?
- 99. The incident to which you refer is again subject to both a criminal investigation regarding the c onduct of protestors and an IPCC investigation into the actions of police officers. You will again appreciate that it would not be appropriate for me to discuss this specific incident.
- 100. The Metropolitan Police Service has, as a strategic principle, the need to respect diversity and this extends to a much broader definition of disability than those who might use wheelchairs. We are supported in the development of our strategic response to disability by a Disability Independent Advisory Group that is a proactive in giving us advice on how to address a host of issues.
- 101. A di versity dir ectorate o versees t he d evelopment of diversity polic ies a nd pract ices a nd ensur es t hat strategic intention continues to be implemented practically.
- 102. Our strategic position on disability comes to life through 3 means
  - Mandatory training
  - Performance review
  - Experience

103. The strength of our public order pollicising is that, as explained previously, the officers used to police protests are drawn from what most would regard as "normal" policing duties. All the officers on duty on 9 December would have unde rtaken di versity tra ining ei ther on entering the police service or through a mandatory online learning package. Among the subjects covered within this package is disability.

104. Additionally, every officer in the MPS has, as part of their annual Performance and Development Review (PDR), an assessment of their contribution towards policing diversity. This constant focus on the practical demonstration of their respect for diversity means that officers maintain a high level of awareness of all issues.

105. Lastly, in terms of office r awareness, is the fact that the single point of entry to the police service (i.e. operational con stable) means that all officers are exposed to a broad range of communities and policing activities from their earliest days. Most carry this vast experience of life with them throughout their who le

careers, constantly using it to inform their decision-making processes. This means that officers who become involved in public order oper ations come with the skills required to deal effectively with all the pe ople they

106. Within training for public order policing, there is no additional input aimed at raising officers' awareness of the needs of specific disabilities. Focussing on, for example, wheelchair bound protestors would be far too narrow a focus. It is highly likely that among a crowd of many thousands there will be many people suffering from different types and different degrees of disability including some that would be apparent to officers and many that would not.

107. There is howe ver, speci fic tactic al and s trategic training and g uidance given—constables through to commanders—regarding the use of containm ent tactics dependent on their role at a public order event. This includes all them being trained to consider the needs of those who might be viewed as vulnerable, and I accept that a disabled person may become vulnerable in any situation but especially so when they find themselves in the middle of a violent protest. In a broader context, commanders are also trained to consider the welfare needs of the whole crowd.

108. There are no separate tactics that police could implement to prevent a disabled person from attacking or obstructing a p olice line that are different to those that may be used with able-bodied people. Essentially, officers will use the level of force that is appropriate within the law to counter the violence used against them, taking into consideration the medical implications of such acti on as described in my answer to the previous question.

109. The police must be able to r espond to vul nerable people who are identified and who wish to le ave protests. There is s trong evidence captured in various command logs that indicate a clear in tent by commanders and offic ers to support vu lnerable people within the crowd and re lease t hem t hrough the appropriate cordons as soon as possible.

110. I would also expect the organisers of a protest to consider the needs of disabled participants; failure to do so may contravene legislation in some circumstances. I expect organisers to be responsible for ensuring that the planned peaceful activities are open to all and that those requiring additional support are afforded this. Where peaceful protest turns into violence and di sorder, it remains incumbent on the organisers to ensure that vu lnerable people are su itably supported. I am u naware of the provisions made by ULU to c ater for disabled participants.

# **Ouestion 6**

6. You'd escribed to us a n "active a dvance" made by m ounted officers on 24 November to disperse demonstrators, but told us that no such advance was used on 9 December. Can you comment on suggestions that mounted officers approached those contained in Parliament Square on 9 Dec ember at a fast pace and explain the purpose of the advance in this case, given that the demonstrators were already contained and so had no where to move to? You described the "active advance" as an ACPO-approved tactic. Is there any specific guidance on when and how it should be deployed?

111. Thank you for the opp ortunity to provide further clarification r egarding the use of horses on 9 December. I have re viewed the transcript of our meeting on 14 Dec ember and di sagree with the statement that you attribute to me in your letter dated 22 December. The record does not show me as saying that "no such[active] advance took place on 9 December" as you state.

112. What we are talking about here are degrees of engagement and differences in tactical intent.

113. As I said to you on 22 December, horses are used for a wide variety of reasons. The ACPO Manual on keeping the Peace gives 5 reasons why they may be used:

- To assist with monitoring the crowd dynamics and information/intelligence gathering
- To demonstrate that force is about to be/may be used

- To support cordons
- To escort marches/groups
- To assist with the dispersal of a crowd
- 114. On 24 November, the intent of the active advance was to disperse the crowd and clear an area in support of further dispersal. There were significant dangers to the officers who were deployed in that area and who were being attacked despite being largely defenceless. The use of horses was a tactic of last resort to prevent further extremes of violence and their deployment at that time was proportionate.
- 115. On 9 D ecember, the ci rcumstances and use of the horses were somewhat different. What we saw at Victoria Street, was as ustained attack on a police cordon with a presumed in tent to attack vulnerable premises in the near vicinity or to find an alternate route to the Palace of Westminst er. There was a need to support and reinforce the cordon of officers trying to hold that area.
- 116. Initially, the foot officers at that location were providing a simple cordon to prevent large numbers of protestors deviating from the agreed route, which was still open for them to follow. The cordon was intended to allow the filtering of small numbers of protestors into Victoria Street and away from Parliament Square. However between 1400 and 1500 this cordon became the focus for sustained attacks from a crowd described as 20 deep. It was the attack on this cordon in particular, that was one of the reasons containment was commenced.
- 117. During this period a line of officers was at tacked with fencing; had hundreds of protestors surging at them, and were bar raged with scaffold bolts, fireworks, flares and other missiles clearly intended to cause
- 118. Had this police line failed to hold its ground, a large number of vi olent protestors would have had free run up Victoria Street and then spread into the heart of the nearby government infrastructure.
- 119. At about 1500 a unit of mounted officers were making their way to take a refreshment break when they passed through this area and observed the perilous state of the cordon. They took the decision to self-deploy to Victoria Street to support their colleagues on foot and formed up behind the police line to provide a "show of strength". This is a recognised tactic and is contained in the 'MPS Guide to Mounted Branch Tactics'.
- 120. After consultation with a Bronze commander it was decided that the horses were the only means of preventing the crowd from overwhelming the cordon officers. Prior to directing the horses into the crowd, the bronze commander observed that there was a large open space behind the protestors into which they could move. It was obvious that this group of protestors could have moved to the exit point at Whitehall but chose not to.
- 121. Initially, the mounted unit tried to conduct a "Passive Push" into the crowd from behind the officers which involved the horses moving at walking pace. This tactic is described, and guidance contained, in the Public Order Tactic al Trainer's Manual. This is a less dy namic tactic than the 'Act ive Push [Advance]' that would ordinarily be supported by the shield officers and possibly take place at a faster pace.
- 122. They did thi s t wice, withdrawing and a ssessing the impact of their push on each occasion. The tac tic provided only temporary relief and on each withdrawal, the crowd surged forward again to apply pressure to and at tack the cordon. Finally, the mounted commander took his team around the side of the cordon and came across the front of the line of officers, to form an "Absolute Cordon". This was a successful tactic and the pressure started to abate. However throughout this engagement, protestors continued to attack officers and horses alike and it was at this point that one of the most serious injuries to officers occurred when one of the mounted officers was pulled from his horse.
- 123. Such was the ferocity of at tacks on the mou nted officers that some of the evidence booklets completed after the event refer to the ir hor ses "shi vering" with fear. It is t estament to the bravery and skill of these officers that the line was held.
- 124. There are several sources of guidance in the use of horses, primary among these are:

- The ACPO Manual on Keeping the Peace
- The MPS Public Order Tactical Trainers Manual
- The MPS Guide to Mounted Branch Public Order Tactics.

## 24 January 2011

## 3. Letter from the Chair, to Rt Hon Theresa May MP, Home Secretary, 12 January 2011

The J oint Committee on H uman Right s i s c onducting i ts scrutiny of the P olice R eform and S ocial Responsibility Bill for compatibility with the human rights obligations of the UK. I would be grateful if you could provide us with some additional information.

# (a) Protests in Parliament Square (Part 3)

Part 3 of the Bill proposes to repeal Sections 132–138, Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 20 05 (SOCPA). These provisions place a prohibition on protests within around 1mile of Parliament without prior notification and authorisation on application to the police. These provisions were repeatedly criticised by the predecessor JCHR, which criticised their introduction as a likely disproportionate interference with the right to freedom of assembly (Article 11 ECHR) and called for repeal of these provisions on a number of occasions.

The Government proposes to replace these provisions with new limitations on the means of protest permitted within Parliament Square Gardens and the surrounding areas. The Bill will create new "prohibited activities" in this area. These will include:

- Operating amplified noise equipment (including loudspeakers or loudhailers);
- Erecting, keeping erect or using a tent or another structure for the purposes of sleeping or staying in that area for any period;
- Placing, k eeping or using any sleeping equipment (which in cludes any sleeping bag, mattress or other similar item) for the purposes of sleeping overnight in that area.
- Performing a prohibited activity—without reasonable excuse—after being directed to ce ase by an authorised officer (including police, employees of GLA or Westminster City Council) will be an offence. Any constable or authorised officer may seize or remove any offending items, including through the use of reasonable force.

These limitations must be justified as necessary to meet a legitimate aim and proportionate to the proposed interference with the rights protected by Articles 10 and 11 ECHR, the right to freedom of expression and assembly. The Explanatory Notes explain the Government's view that these provisions are proportionate in very broad terms.

In relation to the proposals relating to tents and sleeping equipment, the Government relies on the decision of the High Court in the eviction of the "Democracy Village" protesters earlier in 2010. In that decision, the judge considered eviction was proportionate in light of the rights and freedoms of others to access the square, the protection of health and the prevention of crime. While this assessment was relevant to the decision in this case, we are concerned that this does not provide justification specific to these proposals, including an indication of why the blanket restriction on the use of tents and sleeping materials is appropriate, necessary and justified.

In relation to loud speakers and loud hailers, the Explanatory Notes take a similarly broad approach:

"The Government considers that the legitimate aim pursued these provisions is the protection of the rights and free doms of others—partly those members of the public who is hould be a ble to enjoy Parliament Square peacefully, partly those members of the public who wish to protest either with or

without using a loudhailer and partly those members of the public who wish to go about their lawful business without disturbance."

The predecessor JCHR accepted that some measures to control disturbances to parliamentary business might be ju stifiable but called on the Gover nment to consider the proportionality of any measures. I would be grateful if you could provide further information:

- 1. In light of the justification provided in the Explanatory Notes, why are these measur es necessary and limited to the area o f Parliament Square Gardens? (Please provide a further explanation of why the reasons for the restrictions in the Bill in the Explanatory Notes justify these specific provisions in the vicinity of Parliament Square, as opposed to anywhere else in the UK)
- 2. Why are exist ing measures in the Public Order Act 1986, in cluding the ability of police to impose conditions on marches and demonstrations that become violent or which pose a serious threat to public order, inadequate to regulate protest around Parliament? Please give examples of circumstances when the existing powers have been applied and proved inadequate to protect against public disorder.
- 3. If there are specific reasons for regulating protest around Parliament, particularly in relation to the use of sleeping equipment or amplified noise equipment, we would be grateful for a fuller explanation of the Government's vie ws o f th ese reasons and the proportionality of the propo sed mea sures, including evidence to support those views;
- 4. We would be grateful if the G overnment would explain why it considers that the breadth of the discretion which it is proposed that GLA, Westminster City Council and the police will have in practice is appropriate a nd le gally c ertain en ough t o sat isfy t he requirement t hat an y rest riction on prot est be prescribed by law; and
- 5. Please explain why the Gov ernment considers that it is appro priate for employees of GLA and Westminster City Coun cil to have the statutor y power to use rea sonable force again st individua l protesters in order to seize sleeping equipment or to remove any individual who appears to be breaching the prohibition on sleeping equipment or intends to breach those provisions.
- 6. We would be grateful if you could explain what safeguards will be in place to ensure that this power will be applied in a way which protects in dividuals from the disproportionate use of force and respects the individual right to life (Article 2 ECHR); and the right to physical integrity (as pr otected by Article 8 ECHR).

#### (b) Private prosecutions for crimes of universal jurisdiction (Clause 151)

Clause 151 re moves the power of 'p rivate prosecutors' to seek an arrest warrant from a Magistrates Court without first getting the consent of the DPP, in relation to selected offences alleged to have been committed overseas. T he prosecuti on of t he m ajority of t hese offences have imp lications for the implementation international human rights obligations of the UK. For example, the UK has free-standing obligations in relation to the pro secution of off ences of to rture, under the UN Convention against Torture (UNCAT). Equally, the right to life requires the UK to take measures to provide for the prosecution of offences which endanger life. It is clear that public prosecutions – and prosecutions subject to the authorisation of the DPP – will remain possible. However, we have some concern that these provisions are a retrograde step in the UK's ability to meet its international obligations. The right to bring private prosecutions has be en described as "a useful constitutional safeguard against capricious, corrupt or biased failure or refusal of those authorities to prosecute offenders against the criminal law."2

Seventh Report of 2008-09, Chapter 5: http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt200809/jtselect/jtrights/47/4708.htm

Gouriet v Union of Post Office Workers [1977] 3 All ER 70.

We consi der t hat where t here is an i nternational ob ligation on the UK to provide for prosecution, any proposed d eparture from the or dinary crim inal p rocedure should by ju stified and fully explained by the Government by reference to evidence to support their reasons for action.

This issue is not addressed in the Explanatory Notes. However, during the second reading debate on this Bill in the House of Commons, you explained:

"The Bill addresses another important area of law that is not currently working-the whole issue of how we apply universal jurisdiction, which is a key principle of international just tice that enables some of the gravest offences to be prosecuted here, regardless of the state in which the offences were committed.

[...]

We are not changing the law because a foreign country has put pressure on us. In relation to this law, the evidential requirement that is needed in order for somebody to go and get an arrest warrant is significantly less than that required for a successful prosecution."

Prior to the Bill's introduction, the Secretary of State for Justice said:

"[I]t is important...that universal jurisdiction cases should be proceeded with in this country only on the basis of solid evidence that is likely to lead to a successful prosecution—otherwise there is a risk of damaging our ability to help in conflict resolution or to pursue a coherent foreign policy."3

At present, on laying of information in connection with an offence, Magistrates can issue as summons or issue a warrant for arrest in order to bring a person before the court to answer the allegation. Under the proposals, the DPP would have to consent before an arrest warrant were issued in any case brought by a person who was not a public prosecutor. Unfortunately, the Bill and the Explanatory Notes provide very little guidance on the test to be applied by the DPP or the procedure that will apply in order to secure the consent of the DPP in order to allow a prosecution to proceed.

- 7. We would be grateful if you could provide us with a full explanation of the Governmen t's view that a departure from ordinary criminal procedure is required in relation to the offences covered by Clause 151. In particular:
  - (a) Please explain what purpose the proposed restriction on the power of the magist rate to issue a warrant will ser ve, and provide the reasons for the Government's view that the proposed restriction is proportionate and justified.
  - (b) In light of the dec ision to introduce a separate procedure relating to offences of universal jurisdiction, we would be grateful to have a further ex planation of the decision that these provisions are necessary now, rather than when the offences were incorporated into domestic law.
  - (c) Please provide any e vidence relating to the Government's position, including any statist ics on the use of the power of arrest in connection with crimes of universal jurisdiction or details of any cases where t he Gov ernment con siders t hat t he existing magist rates' power has been u sed inappropriately
- 8. Please provide det ails on ho wan ap plicant will se cure the consent of DPP in an ordinary case, including details of any saf eguards to ensu re that the decision of the DPP is taken in a timely way, in order to ensure that any planned prosecution is able to proceed without delay.

During the last parliamentary session, our predecessor Committee conducted an inquiry on the application of international c rimes and in ternational c riminal law in the UK. The i nquiry focused on gaps and inconsistencies in the implementation of these offences in UK law. Taking evidence from the former DPP, Sir Ken MacDonald, he asked whether the prosecution of offences pursuant to the International Criminal Court Act 2001 (ICC Act) should be subject to the supervision of the DPP rather than the Attorney General. These offences are not subject to universal jurisdiction, but extraterritorial jurisdiction based on the residence of a defendant in the UK. Currently, "proceedings" may not be "instituted" in relation to the offences in the ICC Act and in s1, Geneva Conventions Act 1957 (after amendments by the ICC Act in 2001) without the consent of the Attorney General (Section 53, ICC Act; Section 70, 1957 Act). The former DPP said:

"My v iew w hile I w as D PP was t hat a ll d ecisions about pros ecutions should be t aken by a n independent prosecuting authority, but that is a slightly broader point. At the moment, the Attorney General's consent is re quired for these offences, no doubt because of their international elements. For my own part, I would sup port a regime in which consent is required from the Director of Public Prosecutions rather than the Attorney General."

- 9. I would be grateful if you could explain the Government's view on the continuing role of the Attorney General in relation to the prosecution of international crimes in the UK.
- 10. Please explain whether the Government has considered whether to use this Bill to rationalise the role of the DPP in relation to these offences, including by ensuring that any prosecution decisions in relation to international crimes are taken by the DPP acting as the UK independent prosecuting authority.
- 11. If not, we would be grateful if you could explain the Government's vie w whether this would be appropriate or not.

It would be helpful if we could receive your reply by 28 January 2011. I would also be grateful if your officials could provide the Committee secretariat with a copy of your response in Word format, to aid publication.

I look forward to hearing from you.

# 12 January 2011

# 4. Letter to the Chair, from Rt Hon Nick Herbert MP, Minister of State for Policing and Criminal Justice, Home Office, January 2011

Thank you for the letter of 12 J anuary to the Home Sec retary regarding the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill. As the Minister responsible for the Bill, the Home Secretary has asked me to reply. I am grateful for the points you have raised and have responded to each in turn.

## Parliament Square

#### 1. Why are these measures necessary and limited to the area of Parliament Square Gardens?

The Government c onsiders that t hese m easures are necessary in the area of Parliament Square Garden because of the unique characteristics of this area. Parliament Square Garden is a World Heritage Site, situated directly opposi te t he H ouses of P arliament, We stminster Abbey and the Suprem e C ourt. Vi sitors and members of the public have varying reasons to wish to visit this site - whether as tourists, to see the Houses of Parliament and Big Ben; as a cultural experience, by visiting a World Heritage Site; as an individual interested in the democratic process, by seeing where Parliament is situated; or as someone who wants to express their point of view within sight and earshot of Parliament.

This means that we need to balance competing and legitimate needs of members of the public with members of Parliament who need to be able to carry out their daily work.

As this is a popular place, it is reasonable to ensure a level of control over the use of this space in order to ensure that no one particular person or group of persons can take over the area to the detriment of others.

For example, at pr esent, there is an on going en campment in Parliament Square that many people find unsightly. This has the ability to spoil the public enjoyment of this unique location and even deterpeople from visiting this unique spot.

The Greater London Authority (GLA) has a statutory duty to keep Pa rliament Square Garden in good order and condition. It has powers to make such by elaws, to be observed by persons using Parliament Square Garden, as it considers necessary for securing the proper management of Parliament Square Garden, the preservation of order and the prevention of abuses there. There is evidence to show that by elaws have been breached. The Government's me asures support the GLA in maintaining Parliament Square Garden's recognised status.

2. Why are existing measures in the Public Or der Act 1986, including the ability of police to impose conditions on marches and demonstrations that become violent or which pose a serious threat to public order, inadequate to regulate protest around Parliament?

The Government does not consider that the existing measures in sections 12 and 14 of the Public Order Act are inad equate to regulate protest around P arliament. The Government agrees with the protest around Parliament (JCHR 7th Report, 2008-09 Demonstrating Respect for Rights, paragraph 137) that protest around Parliament should be governed by the Public Order Act, in particular through police powers to impose conditions under section 14. I am not able to provide examples of when Section 14 has been inadequate to protect against public disorder in the a rea around Parliament as it was specifically disapplied when sections 132 to 138 of the Serious Organised Crime and Police Act (SOCPA) came in to force. On repeal of SOCPA, section 14 will apply to demonstrations in the area around Parliament.

SOCPA p owers h ave p roved ina dequate to dea l with p ublic di sorder, w hich i s why t he Go vernment i s repealing them—recent examples include the Tamil demonstrations in 2009.

The byelaws in place, to secure the proper management of Parliament Square Garden, were shown to be unenforceable during the occupation of Parliament Square Garden by the Democracy Village encampment.

The Gover nment's proposals are intended to prevent encampments and other disruptive activity on Parliament Square. The provisions apply to everyone—not just protestors. The area around Parliament is understandably one of the most protested areas in the country and space is limited for those wishing to protest or simply enjoy the amenities of the Square. The Government is seeking to preserve that space for everyone.

It is also important to note that the predecessor JCHR recognised there may be something different required in relation to Parliament Square, something more than the Public Order Act can currently provide:

"We recommend that the Home Office, the police, Westminster City Council and the parliamentary authorities should develop alternative arrangements to manage noise levels from protest in Parliament Square, including consideration of whether legislative change is necessary and whether maximum noise levels should be imposed and enforced effectively." (JCHR 7th Report, 2008-09 Demonstrating Respect for Rights, paragraph 133)

The conditions that can be imposed in relation to public assemblies (i.e. static demonstrations) under section 14 of the Public Order Act are limited to those about the place of the assembly, the maximum duration of the assembly and the maximum number of participants. The tests for imposing conditions include the ne ed to prevent serious public di sorder, se rious di sruption to the life of the community and se rious damage to property.

Section 14 do es not give the police speci fic powers to limit enc ampments or noise e quipment for public assemblies (irrespective of whether such encampments are related to protest or not) and, therefore, it is not possible to address these current issues in Parliament Square by using only the existing powers under the 1986 Act.

3. Explanation of reasons and proportionality of proposed measures, particularly in relation to the use of sleeping equipment or amplified noise equipment.

The G overnment considers that the unique situ ation of Pa rliament, as de scribed ab ove, means that it is justified to have a special regime in place for this small area. The e vidence that the predecessor Committee heard, bot h fr om member s of P arliament and th ose who work in the Houses of P arliament, about the disruption that encampments outside Parliament have caused to the work of Parliament (JCHR 7th Report, 2008-09 Demonstrating Respect for Rights Chapter 5), provides further justification. It is important to stress that this regime applies to all and not just to protestors. It is accordingly focused on promoting the use of Parliament Square and is not about regulating protest per se. The Government wants to ensure that the area in which the new regime applies is as small as possible so that it targets the problem of the unique situation of Parliament Square, without extending any further than necessary.

The Committee will be aware of both the tents and loudhailer issues from its daily work in Parliament. The Committee will therefore be aware that Parliament Square Garden is not a suitable area to be used for any sort of encampment and that the Democracy Village encampment caused significant damage to the Garden that has required considerable remedial works, during which time nobody could enjoy this unique space.

The Committee will also be aware that Mr Justice Williams in Mayor of London -v- Re becca Hall and Others [2010] EWHC 1613 held, at paragraph 48, that "I am satisfied that PSG [Parliament Square Garden] is wholly unsuited for camping; there is no sanitation [...] no running water [...] no public toilets open 24 hours dail y in the immediate area...no safe means for cooking; a camp site is wholly incompatible with the location; it would deprive the public of the use of the total area of well-maintained lawn and garden sat the heard of British democracy and government and a world renowned WHS [World Heritage Site]".

I understand that the Metropolitan Police Service is no longer authorising demonstrations on the footway opposite Carriage Gates du et o concerns about the limited space a vailable. In effect, pe ople who wish to demonstrate here are not able to do so due to the presence of the encampment.

The predecessor Committee recognised the concerns about the long term presence of encampments (*JCHR* 7th Report, 2008-09 Demonstrating Respect for Rights paragraph 134), "We have heard no go od argument in favour of introducing an a rbitrary limit on the duration of protests arou nd Parliament, although we note the potential security concerns associated with the existence of the camp [...]. We are also concerned to ensure that the existence of long-term protests does not prevent or deter other people from protesting in Parliament Square."

The current encampment is preventing others from exercising their right to protest on the footways around Parliament Square Garden. Additionally, Mr J ustice Williams in Mayor of Lond on -v- Rebecc a Hall a nd Others [2010] EWHC 1613 held, at paragraph 133 "I am satisfied [...] the use of Parliament Square Garden by tourists and vi sitors, by local workers by those who want to take advantage of its world renowned setting and by others who want to prote st lawfully, is being prevented." Prohibiting tents and other sleeping equipment in this limited area will ensure that everyone has equal rights to enjoy that space.

The Government takes the view that there is no legitimate reason why Parliament Square Garden should become a campsite and that the restrictions that apply to anyone (not just protestors) erecting tents or having sleeping equipment are a proportionate manner in which to ensure that it does not become a campsite. Limiting the period for which anyone could erect tents or use sleeping equipment would not solve this since one person could simply replace a nother person, leading to a permanent encampment manned by different people. The damage to the Garden would remain, as would the problem of the area then being inaccessible to other members of the public.

The Government does not consider that this is a dis proportionate interference with either Article 10 or 11, because the restriction in place for the legitimate aims of "the protection of the rights and freedoms of others" to access Parliament Square Garden, but also the protection of health and the prevention of crime (as noted in paragraph 133 of the HC judgment in Hall and Others). The Government considers that, although some individuals or groups may wish to use tents or sleeping equipment as part of a protest, the limitation on this should not prevent the protest itself. On that basis, although it is accepted that it may interfere with Article 10 and 11 rights, the Government considers that, because of the very small geographical area in which this takes place and the fact that this provision does not prevent protest itself (rather it perhaps limits the way in which a protest can be carried out), this is proportionate to the legitimate aims.

In re lation t o the lou dspeakers and ot her ampli fied n oise eq uipment, the G overnment considers that restrictions along the lines proposed are required in order to ensure that the rights and freedoms of others are adequately protected. The Government is concerned for members of the public who should be able to enjoy Parliament Square Garden peacefully; members of the public who wish to demonstrate or protest, either with or without using a loudhailer; and members of the public who wish to go about their lawful business without disturbance, including Members of Parliament. The Government accepts that this restriction can go more directly to individuals' Article 10 and 11 rights as there is a stronger argument to say that using a loudhailer, or something similar, is more commonly a scenario used in exercising Article 10 and 11 rights than setting up a tent. With this in mind, as the Government has no wish to prevent protest around Parliament, the Government has set up an authorisation scheme which enables loudhailers and the like to be authorised. This is considered necessary in order to ensure that that one or two individuals cannot usurp the rights of many others and it does not seem disproportionate for authorities to place limits on duration of use of a loudhailer. The details of this authorisation scheme are set out on the face of the Bill in order to ensure that this is clear and accessible to all.

4. We would be g rateful if the Gove rnment would explain why it considers that t he br eadth of the discretion which it is proposed that GLA, Westminster City Council and the police will have in practice is appropriate a nd le gally c ertain en ough to sat isfy the requirement that any restriction on protest be prescribed by law.

The Government is satisfied that the prohibited activities are clearly set out on the face of the Bill and readily accessible to anyone who may be in the controlled area. In ad dition, the Government considers it is more proportionate to ensure that, before anyone can commit an offence under these provisions, they must first be directed to remove the tent or stop using the loudhailer. This means that the person, before committing the offence, is warned that what they are doing is prohibited and therefore has the opportunity to stop doing it before any criminal liability att aches. The Government beli eves this ensures that the offences are both proportionate and enforceable, as they require a police officer or authorised officer of the Greater London Authority (GLA) or We stminster City Council (WCC) to be present at the scene. It also ensures that any particular circumstances of the individual can be taken into consideration, as appropriate in two ways – firstly, it is not mandatory for the authorised officer to issue a direction and, secondly, there is a defence of "reasonable excuse" for failure to comply. The Government considers it appropriate for the provisions to be structured in this way to ensure that they are properly enforced.

5. Statutory power to use reasonable force for employees of the GLA and Westminst er City Coun cil to seize sleeping equipment or to remove any individual who appears to be br eaching the pr ohibition on sleeping equipment or intends to breach those provisions.

The power to use reasonable force attaches only to the power of seizure—there is not a power in the provisions for GLA or Westminster City Council employees to remove an individual (whether using force or not). The Government considers that a power to use reasonable force is necessary and proportionate in order to ensure that the seizure powers are actually enforceable. Otherwise, it is unlikely that the seizure powers could be used unless the particular items were left unattended. The Government considers that it is right for these powers to be available to all those who are able to issue a direction, otherwise this would require more than one authority to be present for the duration of the direction and any seizure which seems unnecessary, costly and bureaucratic.

6. Safeguards to ensure that this power will be a pplied in a way which protects individuals from the disproportionate use of force and respects the individual right to life and the right to physical integrity.

This power is only available when exercising a power of seizure. In turn, the power of seizure is only available in relation to an item which appears to have been used (or is being used) in connection with an offence under clause 141. The offence under clause 141 can only be committed if a person, without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with a direction given under clause 141. In other words, there are several steps that must be taken before any power to use reasonable force can be used. Therefore, the legislation itself ensures that this power can only used in limited circumstances and protects against the disproportionate use of the power.

As for the disproportionate use of force, there are two safeguards against this in the provision itself. Firstly the provision makes it clear that the power is to use reasonable force; any disproportionate force is very unlikely to be "reasonable" and therefore not authorised by this provision. Secondly, the provisions make it clear that force can only be used if necessary. Again, this safeguards against the arbitrary use of force. All those who can use the power must abi de by the safegu ards on the fac e of the Bill and otherwise risk legal claims for an unlawful use of force. In addition, all those authorised to use the power are public authorities under section 6 of the HRA 1998 and are therefore obliged to act in a manner which is compatible with Convention rights.

On this basis, the Go vernment is satisfied that the way in which the provisions are drafted mean that the provisions themselves guard against any disproportionate interference with both Article 2 and Article 8.

# Arrest warrants for universal jurisdiction offences

7. Full expl anation of the Government's view that a departure fr om ordinary cr iminal pr ocedure is required in relation to the offences covered by Clause 151. In particular:

(a) Purpose of the proposed restriction on the power of the magist rate to issue a warrant and reasons that the proposed restriction is proportionate and justified.

The proposed departure from the u sual procedure is modest, affecting a very few cases of crimes under the law of England and Wales committed elsewhere. Unlike the proposal canvassed by the previous Government, it does not abrogate the right of private prosecution in universal jurisdiction cases—private prosecutors will still be a ble to apply for the issue of a warrant. Mo reover, the power of the Police and Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) to investigate and prosecute alleged offences is entirely unaffected.

The Government considers it unsatisfactory that a warrant might be issued in a case where there is no realistic prospect of a v iable prosecution taking place, especially in relation to a grave crime alleged to have been committed outside the United Kingdom by a person whose sole connection with this country might be his presence here as a visitor. The proposed change is designed to obviate that risk and is proportionate.

(b) Explanation of the decision that these provisions a re n ecessary now, rather th an w hen the offences were incorporated into domestic law.

The problem is that the test applied by the court is much less onerous than that applied by the CPS in deciding whether a case should proceed. It was only after a warrant was issued in a universal jurisdiction case, some years ago, that the implications of that discrepancy became apparent.

(c) Evidence relating to the Government's position, including any statistics on the use of the po wer of ar rest in connection with crimes of un iversal jurisdiction or details of any case s where the Government considers that the existing magistrates' power has been used inappropriately.

Information about applications of this kind is not recorded, but staff at the City of Westminster Magistrates' Court, where such applications are generally heard, are aware of ten applications for arrest warrants in respect of universal jurisdiction offences in the last ten years. It is public knowledge that two of these applications were granted. Ho wever, the G overnment's argument is not ab out the number of warrants that have been issued, nor that warr ants have bee n i ssued i mproperly. The Go vernment's concern is t hat warrants a re capable of being issued in respect of grave offences in circumstances where there is no real prospect that a viable prosecution will ensue.

8. How an applicant will secure the consent of DPP in an ordinary case and safeguards to ensure that the decision of the DPP is taken in a timely way.

The arrangements for securing consent will be a matter for the independent DPP, who could be expected to be mindful of time constraints in making the decision.

# 9. The continuing role of the Attorney General in relation to the prosecution of international crimes in the UK.

The Government does not currently propose to change the requirement for the Attorney General's consent to prosecutions for certain offences under our law which are committed elsewhere. When granting consent to any prosecution, it is the well-established constitutional position that the Attorney acts independently of Government, applying prosecutorial principles. In cases where he decides to seek the views of Ministerial colleagues on relevant public interest considerations that may legitimately inform his consent decision, such as (if this arose in an individual case) the implications for national security of prosecuting or not prosecuting, the decision is and remains his alone. These are extremely grave crimes of international importance. As a professional lawyer with a constitutional role at the heart of Government in maintaining the rule of law, the Attorney General is well placed to take these decisions with propriety.

10 and 11. Use of this Bill to rationalise the role of the DPP in relation to these offences, ensuring that any prosecution d ecisions in relation to international crimes are taken by the DPP ac ting as the UK independent prosecuting authority.

For the reasons set out above, the Government does not consider that it would be appropriate to transfer the consent function in relation to prosecution of these offences to the DPP.

I hope this response provides the further information required by the Committee for consideration of the Bill. Should you have any further queries, please do not hesitate to contact me.

January 2011

# List of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament

# **Session 2010-11**

First Report	Work of the Committee in 2009–10	HL Paper 32/HC 459
Second Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Identity Documents Bill	HL Paper 36/HC 515
Third Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Bill (Preliminary Report)	HL Paper 41/HC 535
Fourth Report	Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc Bill (Second Report); and other Bills	HL Paper 53/HC 598
Fifth Report	Proposal for the Asylum and Immigration (Treatment of Claimants, etc) Act 2004 (Remedial) Order 2010	HL Paper 54/HC 599
Sixth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: (1) Superannuation Bill; (2) Parliamentary Voting System and Constituencies Bill	HL Paper 64/HC 640
Seventh Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Public Bodies Bill; other Bills	HL Paper 86/HC 725
Eighth Report	Renewal of Control Orders Legislation	HL Paper 106/HC 838
Ninth Report	Draft Asylum and Immigration (Treatment of Claimants, etc) Act 2004 (Remedial) Order 2010—second Report	HL Paper 111/HC 859
Tenth Report	Facilitating Peaceful Protest	HL Paper 123/HC 684

# List of Reports from the Committee during the last Session of Parliament

## **Session 2009-10**

First Report	Any of our business? Human rights and the UK private sector	HL Paper 5/HC 64
Second Report	Work of the Committee in 2008–09	HL Paper 20/HC 185
Third Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Financial Services Bill and the Pre-Budget Report	HL Paper 184/HC 184
Fourth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Constitutional Reform and Governance Bill; Video Recordings Bill	HL Paper 33/HC 249
Fifth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Digital Economy Bill	HL Paper 44/HC 327
Sixth Report	Demonstrating Respect for Rights? Follow Up: Government Response to the Committee's Twenty- second Report of Session 2008–09	HL Paper 45/ HC 328
Seventh Report	Allegation of Contempt: Mr Trevor Phillips	HL Paper 56/HC 371
Eighth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Children, Schools and Families	HL Paper 57/HC 369

	Bill; Other Bills	
Ninth Report	Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Sixteenth Report): Annual Renewal of Control Orders Legislation 2010	HL Paper 64/HC 395
Tenth Report	Children's Rights: Government Response to the Committee's Twenty-fifth Report of Session 2008–09	HL Paper 65/HC 400
Eleventh Report	Any of our business? Government Response to the Committee's First Report of Session 2009–10	HL Paper 66/HC 401
Twelfth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Crime and Security Bill; Personal Care at Home Bill; Children, Schools and Families Bill	HL Paper 67/HC 402
Thirteenth Report	Equality and Human Rights Commission	HL Paper 72/HC 183
Fourteenth Report	Legislative Scrutiny: Equality Bill (second report); Digital Economy Bill	HL Paper 73/HC 425
Fifteenth Report	Enhancing Parliament's Role in Relation to Human Rights Judgments	HL Paper 85/HC 455
Sixteenth Report	Counter-Terrorism Policy and Human Rights (Seventeenth Report): Bringing Human Rights Back In	HL Paper 86/HC 111